IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ESTATE OF BRANDON BOLDEN, BY AND THROUGH MARILYN BOLDEN, ADMINISTRATRIX

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-01121

CEDRIC WILLIAMS AND AUTOZONE MISSISSIPPI, INC.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT:

GARY D. THRASH / MSB# JOHN N. SATCHER, II / MSB# SINGLETARY & THRASH-JACKSON, P.A. POST OFFICE BOX 587 JACKSON, MS 39205-0587 (601) 948-7410

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ESTATE OF BRANDON BOLDEN, BY AND THROUGH MARILYN BOLDEN, ADMINISTRATRIX

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-01121

CEDRIC WILLIAMS AND AUTOZONE MISSISSIPPI, INC.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY STRIKING PLAINTIFF'S DESIGNATION OF HIS TREATING PHYSICIANS AS EXPERT WITNESSES THAT WERE DESIGNATED TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY STRIKING PLAINTIFF'S MEDICAL EXPENSES FROM EVIDENCE (EXHIBITS 3-10) WHICH WERE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO MISS. CODE ANN. § 41-9-119.

v

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ESTATE OF BRANDON BOLDEN, BY AND THROUGH MARILYN BOLDEN, ADMINISTRATRIX

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-01121

CEDRIC WILLIAMS AND AUTOZONE MISSISSIPPI, INC.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, ESTATE OF BRANDON BOLDEN, BY AND THROUGH MARILYN BOLDEN, ADMINISTRATRIX

COMES NOW THE APPELLANT, the Estate of Brandon Bolden, by and through Marilyn Bolden, Administratrix (hereinafter "Appellant" or "Bolden"), and files this its Appellant's Brief, and would respectfully show unto the Court the following, to-wit:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to Rule 28 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, Appellant submits its Statement of the Case.

This is a case arising from personal injuries suffered by Brandon Bolden, a pedestrian crossing Mill Street, when he was struck by an automobile driven by Cedric Williams (hereinafter "Williams") and employed by AutoZone Mississippi, Inc. (hereinafter "AutoZone" or collectively as "Defendants") on December 20, 2002. Bolden filed suit against Williams and AutoZone on August 12, 2004 for the injuries he suffered as a result of the accident. The case proceeded through lengthy discovery, as outlined below, and the parties entered the first Agreed Scheduling Order on April, 4, 2006. The scheduling Order set forth, among other things, that Bolden's experts shall be designated by July 14, 2006 and Appellees' experts shall be designated by August 18, 2006. Bolden

timely and properly designated his treating physicians, on June 14, 2006, as expert witnesses that may testify at trial (Appellant's R.E. 3). Bolden hired no expert witnesses to testify at trial, all designated experts were treating physicians of Bolden. As such, Bolden provided the opposing party and referenced in his designation, the treating physicians' curriculum vitaes, medical records, summaries and opinions as related to Bolden and his injuries.

On or about August 18, 2006, Appellees filed a Motion to Extend Time to Designate Defendants' Experts and Motion to Strike Bolden's Designation of Expert Witnesses for failing to properly set forth expert matters pursuant Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4). Additionally, Appellees filed their Designation of Expert Witnesses listing two medical experts and an economist; however, they failed to provide any opinions, conclusions or reports for any of the designated experts. The parties then entered into an Agreed Amended Scheduling Order on or about December 12, 2006. This final scheduling order set forth the following deadlines: Bolden's experts shall be designated by January 1, 2007; Defendants' experts shall be designated by February 1, 2007; and Discovery to be completed by March 1, 2007. Prior to entering the amended scheduling order, Plaintiff filed his amended designation of experts (Appellant's R.E. 4) on October 30, 2006. The amended designation of experts included two treating physicians (Dr. Vohra and Dr. Ramsey), which had been previously designated on June 14, 2006 (Appellant's R.E. 3). Defendants filed their amended designation of expert witnesses on February 1, 2007 designating one hired expert, Dr. Mark Webb; however, the only record that was attached was Dr. Webb's curriculum vitae. Defendants designation failed to provide any records, reports, or written opinions by Dr. Webb. On March 30, 2007 Defendants filed a Renewed Motion to strike Plaintiff's treating physicians as experts and Plaintiff filed a Motion to Strike Defendants' Expert Witnesses pursuant to Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4) on the same day. On April 27, 2007, approximately one week prior to trial, the trial judge, Honorable W. Swan Yerger, granted

each party's motion to strike each others experts pursuant to Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4)(Appellant's R.E.
5). Bolden then proceeded to trial without the ability to call his treating physicians who were designated as expert witnesses and Defendants proceeded to trial without any expert witnesses.

The case proceeded to trial and Bolden testified as to the injuries he received and the course of treatment that he received from different doctors and medical facilities over the course of approximately one and a half years following the date of the accident. Bolden introduced into evidence Plaintiff's Trial Exhibits 1-10 consisting of medical bills from each medical provider that rendered treatment to him as a result of the accident. All Exhibits (1-10) were admitted into evidence by Judge Yerger, overruling the objections raised by the Defendants as to each exhibit. At the close of Bolden's case in chief, Defendants moved for a directed verdict which was denied by Judge Yerger. Defendants then presented their arguments to the jury and then rested. At the close of Defendants case, counsel renewed their motion for directed verdict which was then denied after a lengthy explanation (Appellant's R.E. 7). However, Judge Yerger then struck from evidence Exhibits 3-10 which consisted of all of the medical providers and medical bills which were seen by Bolden after the day of the accident (Appellant's R.E. 7, Page 18 Lines 1-11). Judge Yerger reasoned that since the Defendants (Williams and AutoZone) had no expert witnesses to testify at trial to rebut Bolden's claimed injuries that Defendants were at a disadvantage and caused Defendants to be unfairly prejudiced (Appellant's R.E. 7, Page 16 Lines 1-29). As such, Judge Yerger determined that the Defendants were "hamstrung" in their effort to rebut the causal connection established by Bolden with the injuries he received and the services received from all medical providers except for the undisputed injuries which were received on the day of the accident, which Judge Yerger determined, in his opinion, were the only undisputed injuries and medical services received (Appellant's R.E. 7, Page 15 Lines 18-29 and Page 18 Line 8).

Bolden's Exhibits 3-10 were then stricken from the record, excluding approximately \$15,000.00 in damages consisting of a little more than one year's worth of medical treatment as a result of the accident. The only damages remaining in the record were Exhibits 1-2 consisting of medical bills from the day of the accident totaling approximately \$2,000.00. The jury returned a verdict finding Bolden was 60% negligent and Defendants Williams and AutoZone were 40% negligent in causing the accident. The award from the jury was in favor of Bolden in the amount of \$591.44 which was then reduced to \$236.58 (Appellant's R.E. 2). It is from this Judgment and Judge Yerger's rulings with regards to striking Bolden's exhibits which were previously allowed into evidence and Judge Yerger's decision prior to trial to strike Bolden's treating physicians from testifying that Appellant Bolden appeals to the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

The Facts

On December 20, 2002, Bolden was attempting to cross Mill Street in front of his parents' business Bolden Body Shop in Jackson, Mississippi. Located adjacent to the Bolden Body Shop Mill Street has four lanes of travel running north and south. Bolden was struck near the center line by Williams's automobile, who in the course and scope of his employment with AutoZone. Bolden had cleared the first southbound lane of travel and was approximately one stride away from reaching the center line and clearing the second southbound lane on Mill Street. Williams struck Bolden with the left front portion of his automobile and Bolden bounced off Williams's windshield and was catapulted down Mill Street. There was only one eye witness that testified, other than the parties involved, and who saw the events transpire, Randy Holliday. It is from his testimony that these facts were derived.

From the scene of the accident, Bolden was taken by an ambulance to University Hospital and Clinics where he complained of his left leg, head, neck, back and shoulder pain immediately following the accident. Bolden received the following medical treatment as a result of the injuries he sustained on the day of the accident:

		TOTAL	\$16,505.06
12/10/03	02/02/04	ACTION CHIROPRACTIC INC. Dominique Chagnon, D.O.	\$1,625.00
08/08/03	10/23/03	MISSISSIPPI METHODIST HOSP. & REHAB.	\$3,979.00
06/19/03	03/23/04	DIAGNOSTIC RADIOLOGY ASSOCIATES	\$274.00
06/19/03	08/25/04	SOUTHERN PHYSICAL MEDICINE Dr. Rahul Vohra	\$585.00
02/21/03	07/30/03	HEALTHSOUTH SPORTSMED JACKSON Dr. Wayne Jimenz, Dr. Lisa Latham, and Dr. Josep	\$2,118.00 ph Thomas
02/05/03	02/05/03	RADIOLOGICAL GROUP PA	\$229.00
01/31/03	02/05/03	BAPTIST HEALTH SYSTEMS	\$2,261.50
01/22/03	02/05/03	NEUROLOGICAL ASSOCIATES Dr. Richard Weddle	\$250.00
01/16/03	01/16/03	MISSISSIPPI DIAGNOSTIC IMAGING	\$2,040.00
12/31/02	05/01/03	MISSISSIPPI SPORTS MEDICINE Dr. James Randall Ramsey	\$755.00
12/23/02	12/23/02	BAPTIST MEDICAL CLINIC NORTHTOWN Dr. Larry Collins and Dr. Massie Headley	\$60.00
12/20/02	12/20/02	UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER	\$1,560.81
12/20/02	12/20/02	UNIVERSITY RADIOLOGY ASSOCIATES	\$97.00
12/20/02	12/20/02	UNIVERSITY EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS	\$197.00
12/20/02	12/20/02	AMERICAN MEDICAL RESPONSE SOUTH	\$473.75

Bolden filed suit against Williams and AutoZone on August 12, 2004 for the injuries he sustained as a result of the accident. Discovery was commenced and on or about April 3, 2006 and the parties entered into the first agreed scheduling order which set forth the following dates: discovery to be completed by September 29, 2006; Plaintiff's experts to be designated by July 14, 2006; Defendants' experts to be designated by August 18, 2006; and all motions, other than *in limine*, shall be served by October 20, 2006.

Bolden timely and properly designated his treating physicians, on June 14, 2006, as expert witnesses that may testify at trial (Appellant's R.E. 3). Bolden hired no expert witnesses to testify at trial, all designated experts were treating physicians of Bolden. As such, Bolden provided the opposing party and referenced in his designation, the treating physicians' medical records, summaries and opinions contained therein, and the curriculum vitaes, as related to Bolden and his injuries.

On or about August 18, 2006, Defendants filed a Motion to Extend Time to Designate Defendants' Experts and Motion to Strike Bolden's Designation of Expert Witnesses for failing to properly set forth expert matters pursuant Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4). Additionally, Defendants filed their Designation of Expert Witnesses listing two hired medical experts and an economist; however, they failed to provide any opinions, conclusions or reports for any of the designated experts. Bolden then filed a Response to Defendants' Motion to Extend Time and Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Designation of Expert Witnesses or, in the alternative, a Motion to Strike Defendants' Designation of Expert Witnesses, should the Court find that Plaintiff's treating physicians should be stricken for failing to provide a separate written and signed report containing the treating physicians' opinions (Appellant's R.E. 6). Bolden filed his Supplemental Designation of Expert Witnesses (Appellant's R.E. 4) on or about October 30, 2006 setting forth two of the treating physicians previously designated in his original designation from June 14, 2006 (Appellant's R.E. 3). Bolden then supplemented his discovery responses on or about October 31, 2006 by serving Defendants with Plaintiff's Supplemental Responses to Requests for Production of Documents and attaching Bolden's medical records, that supported the injuries suffered as a result of the accident, from his treating physicians (designated experts).

Defendants Williams and AutoZone filed a Motion for Extension of the Scheduling Order Deadlines on or about November 30, 2006 and an Agreed Amended Scheduling Order was entered on or about December 12, 2006, with the following relevant dates: all discovery shall be completed by March 1, 2007; Bolden's experts shall be designated by January 1, 2007; Williams and AutoZone's experts shall be designated by February 1, 2007; and the matter was set for a jury trial beginning on May 7, 2007. On the day of the deadline February 1, 2007, Defendants filed their Amended Designation of Experts, naming Dr. Mark C. Webb, a psychiatrist, to testify as to Bolden's mental and emotional conditions. Defendants did not provide any opinions, summaries, or records from Dr. Webb and they failed to designate any experts that could testify, contradict, or oppose any of Bolden's claimed physical injuries as a result of the accident.

Defendants then filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, a renewed Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Experts, and Plaintiff filed a Motion to Strike Defendant's Designation of Experts on March 30, 2007 with the hearing set for all pending motions on April 9, 2007. On or about April 27, 2007, approximately one week prior to trial, Judge Yerger entered his Order Denying and Granting the parties various motions, (Appellant's R.E. 5). Judge Yerger's harsh decision was to strike Bolden's treating physicians and strike Defendants' designated experts for discovery violations pursuant to Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4), (Appellant's R.E. 5). Bolden then proceeded to trial without the ability to call his treating physicians who were designated as expert witnesses and Defendants

Williams and AutoZone proceeded to trial without any expert witnesses.

The trial began on May 7, 2007 and Bolden testified how the accident took place, the injuries he received to his left leg, head, neck, back and shoulder. Bolden also testified as to the reasonable and necessary medical services that he received from the above listed medical providers as a result of the accident and the medical bills that he incurred from each and every provider. Bolden requested that each and every medical bill be admitted into evidence and Judge Yerger granted Plaintiff's request admitting each and every medical provider's bills into evidence. Bolden's medical bills became Plaintiff's Trial Exhibits 1-10. At the close of Bolden's case, Defendants Williams and AutoZone moved for a directed verdict; however, Defendants' motion was denied by Judge Yerger. Defendants then presented their case and defenses; however, Defendants presented no medical testimony to rebut the reasonableness or necessity of Bolden's medical treatment received as a result of the accident. At the end Defendants' case, they renewed their Motion for Directed Verdict which Judge Yerger denied with regards to negligence. However, Judge Yerger then made the decision to strike and exclude from evidence Exhibits 3-10 which consisted of the majority of Bolden's medical expenses/damages (Appellant's R.E. 7, Page 18 Lines 1-11). Judge Yerger reasoned that since the Defendants Williams and AutoZone had no expert witnesses to testify at trial and rebut Bolden's claimed injuries that Defendants were at a disadvantage which caused Defendants to be unfairly prejudiced (Appellant's R.E. 7). As such, Judge Yerger determined that the Defendants were "hamstrung" in their effort to rebut the causal connection established by Bolden with the injuries he received and the services received from all medical providers except for the undisputed injuries which were received on the day of the accident, which Judge Yerger determined, in his opinion, were the only undisputed injuries and medical services received (Appellant's R.E. 7, Page 15 Lines 18-29 and Page 18 Line 8).

As a result of Judge Yerger's decision to strike Bolden's Exhibits 3-10, which had been previously and properly admitted into evidence, Bolden was not able to present all of his damages and unable to receive a fair trial. The jury should have had the opportunity to determine credibility of the witnesses, examine the damages sustained by Bolden, and determine the value of his injuries as a result of the accident with Defendants. However, Judge Yerger struck from evidence Bolden's damages which were questions of fact that should have been analyzed by the jury: degree and nature of Bolden's injuries, reasonableness and necessity of medical treatment, and Bolden's physical and mental damages. It is from Judge Yerger's decision to strike Bolden's damages (Exhibits 3-10) from evidence and his decision to strike Bolden's treating physicians as experts prior to trial, that Bolden appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Bolden timely and properly designated his treating physicians as experts witnesses to testify at trial. The trial court's finding that Plaintiff's experts should be stricken as a result of discovery violations pursuant to Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4) was not well founded. Bolden properly designated his treating physicians and he was not required to provide written and signed reports, in addition to the physicians' medical records provided and opinions contained therein, as argued by Defendants. Bolden's treating physicians should have been allowed to testify at trial as to the facts known to them and opinions contained in their medical records. Defendants also had their designation of expert witnesses stricken; however, Defendants had "hired gun" experts and the standard for nontreating physicians (experts) requires written and signed reports to be provided in a timely manner or pursuant to the trial court's scheduling order. Defendants' designation of expert witnesses provided no records, no opinions, no written or signed reports. As such, the trial court was correct in striking Defendants experts; however, the trial court later relaxed its position that the Defendants'

experts were stricken pursuant to Miss.R.Civ.P. 26(b)(4) and stated that the Defendants were "hamstrung" and unable to properly designate their experts because Plaintiff did not first designate his experts properly. To presume that Defendants could not timely or properly designate their expert physician witnesses after receiving the names, contact information, areas of expertise, curriculum vitaes, and medical records of Plaintiff's treating physicians is an erroneous rationale. In addition, Defendants argued that Plaintiff's treating physicians failed to provide separate written and signed reports, as required by non-treating physicians (experts); however, that is not the standard.

The trial court erred in striking Plaintiff's Trial Exhibits 3-10 from evidence at the end of trial which had been properly admitted into evidence during Plaintiff's case in chief. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 41-9-119 testimony that medical, hospital, and/or doctor bills were incurred because of any injury shall be *prima facie* evidence that such bills incurred were necessary and reasonable. In our case, Bolden testified as to his injuries suffered, the medical treatment and rehabilitation received, and the medical expenses that were incurred from the medical providers. As in our case, the medical expenses were then properly admitted into evidence. The burden then shifts to the opposing party to rebut such damages by putting forward proper proof, in the form of medical testimony, tending to negate the necessity and reasonableness of the expenses. However, Defendants provided no such evidence or proof to the trial court and, as such, Plaintiff's medical expenses should not have been stricken from evidence. Further, the trial court erred in striking Plaintiff's medical expenses for lack of medical testimony providing a causal connection between Plaintiff's head, back, shoulder and leg pain and the accident. Judge Yerger admitted that it was undisputed that the Plaintiff suffered injuries to his head, neck, shoulder and other injuries as a result of the collision with Defendant's windshield; however, Judge Yerger then ruled that the Defendants were handicapped in refuting the reasonable and necessity of the medical bills (See Appellant's R.E. 7,

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