IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ESTATE OF BRANDON BOLDEN, BY AND THROUGH MARILYN BOLDEN, ADMINISTRATRIX

APPELLANT

V. CASE NO.: 2007-CA-01121

CEDRIC WILLIAMS AND **AUTOZONE MISSISSIPPI, INC.** **APPELLEES**

BRIEF OF APPELLEES - ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

KEITH D. OBERT, ESQ. (WILLIAM F. BROWN, ESQ. (**OBERT LAW GROUP, P.A.** 599 B STEED ROAD

RIDGELAND, MISSISSIPPI 39157

TELEPHONE: FACSIMILE:

(601) 856-9690

(601) 856-9686

ATTORNEYS FOR CEDRIC WILLIAMS AND **AUTOZONE MISSISSIPPI, INC.**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ESTATE OF BRANDON BOLDEN, BY AND THROUGH MARILYN BOLDEN, ADMINISTRATRIX

APPELLANT

V.

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-01121

CEDRIC WILLIAMS AND AUTOZONE MISSISSIPPI, INC.

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

its discretion, when Bolden failed to provide any expert opinions whatsoever.

Further, Bolden claims that the exclusion unduly prejudiced him at trial, as the trial court could have imposed sanctions less severe than the exclusion of the witnesses, such as continuing the trial to allow Williams and AutoZone to depose the physicians, if they so wished. However, such a contention presupposes that Bolden had properly disclosed the facts and opinions of his experts, as well as a summary of the grounds therefor, which were offered to establish medical causation. He did not. Moreover, Appellant's theory would simply allow a plaintiff to identify his treating physicians and where any opinions, related or unrelated to a subject injury, may be found and then enjoy not only freedom from rule mandated summary disclosure of said opinions but also a gift in the form of transferring the burden of going forward with the evidence onto a defendant. The defendant would then bear the burden of ascertaining which, if any, opinions the physician might offer and whether same supported causation of plaintiff's injuries.

In other words, Bolden's theory of assumption of proper disclosure and proximate causation would force a defendant, who bears no burden of going forward with evidence in regard to an element of a plaintiff's cause of action, to not only discover information supportive of plaintiff's claims but also to put the doctor's causation opinions into evidence itself, thereby establishing an element of plaintiff's proof before defendant could even begin to defend against plaintiff's claims. Essentially, a plaintiff would be given a "mulligan" as to his burden of proof in the form of assumed sufficiency/causation and, when challenged as to said failure to disclose properly discoverable information, a defendant then would be required to discover and prove whether a plaintiff's injuries and damages were proximately related to the subject accident. Such a presumptive shifting of the burden of proof is wholly unprecedented in Mississippi jurisprudence, which does not support Bolden's claims that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding Bolden's expert witnesses.

Next, Bolden contends that the trial court erred when it struck, after Plaintiff rested, all medical bills incurred after the date of the accident, for which no causal connection had been established. At trial, Bolden did not offer any testimony of any physician or even introduce the first medical record substantiating a single medical bill, whether incurred on the day of the accident or thereafter. The stricken medical bills are replete with treatment for conditions which had no bearing on the subject accident, other than Bolden's claim of relation. Plaintiff did not establish any medical need for any treatment beyond that which was received on the day of the subject accident. The trial court's ruling was based upon the obvious lack of any causal connection between those medical expenses incurred after the date of the subject accident and the subject accident itself. The trial court heard the testimony of Bolden as to the injuries suffered on the day of the accident, and considered the absence of any medical records or testimony whatsoever that somehow related, proximately or otherwise, any need for medical treatment after the day of the subject accident. Given the complete failure of proof as to Bolden's burden, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the questioned medical bills and said decision should be affirmed.

In support of Bolden's claim that the medical expenses should have been submitted to the jury, he relies upon Miss. Code Ann. § 41-9-119 (1972) which provides:

Proof that medical, hospital, and doctor bills were paid or incurred because of any illness, disease, or injury shall be prima facie evidence that such bills so paid or incurred were necessary and reasonable.

Bolden's argument again presupposes satisfaction of an element on which he bore the burden of proof at trial, *i.e.*, that the accident proximately caused the injuries and damages for which he sought medical treatment. Bolden did not offer any evidence to establish the need for any follow-up care, or any evidence of the medical care given after the day of the subject accident and the medical reasons for same. The medical bills contain no evidence whatsoever as to why the care was sought

or given, and no medical findings proximately relating the injuries and treatment to the subject accident whatsoever. Clearly, Bolden should have offered some proof of medical causation, by introduction of medical records, testimony of treating physicians as to his diagnosis, prognosis, treatment, etc..., or otherwise, which he did not.

Mississippi law is patently clear that while a plaintiff may testify as to his pain and suffering and describe his injuries, he is not competent to testify as to his own medical treatment and prognosis. A plaintiff must offer the testimony of his physician(s) for same. Appellant did not offer any medical testimony or medical records which described the medical treatment received, which even hinted as to why it was needed or which proximately related the medical treatment received and its causal connection to the subject accident, in support of the medical bills.

The vast majority of reported cases which have interpreted the statute, and analyzed its application, have involved cases in which the plaintiff submitted his medical records and expenses in addition to the testimony of his treating physician(s). Nevertheless, the Court has emphasized that causation is not presumed and causation of the injuries, and treatment of same, is the matter at issue, not whether the charges incurred for same were reasonable and necessary.

Inasmuch as Bolden failed to properly disclose Rule 26(b)(4) information as to experts he expected to call at trial of this matter, and failed to establish that his injuries and damages were proximately caused by the subject accident, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Bolden's improperly designated experts or striking medical expenses incurred after the date of the subject accident. Further, Bolden did not make any proffer of the expected testimony of the excluded expert(s), nor has he even provided a transcript of Bolden's own testimony in the record on appeal, purporting to provide any causal connection for injuries claimed to be related to this accident. Therefore, he has not preserved same for appellate review and, therefore, any arguments

related to the exclusion of the expert(s) and/or medical bills are not properly before this Court. Having failed to demonstrate by the record on appeal, by transcript or other materials to prove the substance of the issues on appeal, this Court must presume that the rulings of the trial court were correct. Accordingly, Bolden's appeal must fail.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

APPELLANT'S BURDEN ON APPEAL

Appellant contends that the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Honorable W. Swan Yerger presiding, erred when it: (1) struck Brandon Bolden's treating physicians, who were designated as expert witnesses to testify at trial; and, (2) struck from evidence all of Bolden's medical expenses incurred after the date of the accident, for which no causal connection was proven. A trial court's decisions in managing discovery and excluding evidence or witnesses is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.

To be successful on appeal, Bolden must demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in reaching its decision to strike the expert witnesses and medical evidence offered at trial and said exclusion affected a substantial right of Bolden. In Re Estate of Mask, 703 So. 2d 852, 859 (Miss. 1997); West v. Sanders Medical Clinic for Women, P. A., et al., 661 So. 2d 714, 720 (Miss. 1995)(citing Miss. R. Evid. 103). The error must be of such magnitude as to leave no doubt whatsoever that an appellant was unduly prejudiced. Davis v. Singing River Electrical Power Association, 501 So. 2d 1128, 1131 (Miss. 1987); Parmes v. Illinois Central Gulf Railroad, 440 So. 2d 261, 268 (Miss. 1983). The trial court will be affirmed unless "... there is a definite and firm conviction that the court below clearly erred in reaching its conclusion after weighing the relevant factors." Busick v. St. John, 856 So. 2d 304, 319 (Miss. 2003). Finally, a trial court's decision will not be disturbed with regard to allowing or disallowing a witness' testimony "unless we conclude

that the [decision] was arbitrary and clearly erroneous, amounting to an abuse of discretion." *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003)(quoting *Puckett v. State*, 737 So.2d 322, 342 (Miss. 1999). In other words, the standard is deferential to the trial court's familiarity with the proceedings and evidence before it, as well as for its insights and sound judgment in controlling the litigation before it.

Finally, "when a party objects to the exclusion of evidence, he must make an offer of proof to the court, noting on the record for the benefit of the appellate court what evidence the trial judge excluded." *Nunnally v. R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company*, 869 So. 2d 373, 382 (Miss. 2004)(quoting Comment to Miss. R. Evid. 103).

1. WHETHER PLAINTIFF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THE EXCLUSION OF HIS EXPERT WITNESSES AND QUESTIONABLE MEDICAL BILLS AS ERRORS ON APPEAL WHEN HE FAILED TO MAKE AN OFFER OF PROOF, OR PROFFER OF EVIDENCE, AS TO THE TESTIMONY HE SOUGHT TO HAVE ADMITTED OR OFFER THE TRANSCRIPT OF ANY WITNESS AT TRIAL?

When the trial court struck Plaintiff's expert witnesses for failure to comply with the disclosure requirements of Rule 26(b)(4) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as the trial court's own Scheduling Order deadline, Plaintiff did not make an offer of proof as to the expert testimony of any physician so excluded. Mississippi law is well established that before a party may predicate error upon the exclusion of a witness or his testimony, he must preserve said putative error by making an offer of proof as to what the anticipated testimony would have been. *Nunnally v. R. J. Reynolds Tobacco Company*, 869 So. 2d 373, 382 (Miss. 2004); *Harris v. Shields*, 568 So. 2d 269 (Miss. 1990). If no offer of proof is made, then this Court may not reverse the trial court's decision, even if an error was made, as the excluded testimony may not be said to have affected the party's substantial right. *Harris*, *supra* at 272.

Rule 103(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence provides in part:

Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and . . .

In case the ruling is one excluding evidence, the substance of the evidence was made known to the court by offer or was apparent from the context.

Miss. R. Evid. 103(a)(emphasis added). Further, the Comment to Rule 103 clearly explains any ambiguity that may exist:

"when a party objects to the exclusion of evidence, he <u>must make an offer of proof</u> to the court, noting on the record for the benefit of the appellate court what evidence the trial judge excluded. See *Brown v. State*, 338 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 1976); *King v. State*, 374 So.2d 808 (Miss.1979)."

Cmt., Miss. R. Evid. 103 (emphasis added).

The cases interpreting the evidentiary rule's requirement of an offer of proof before error may be predicated upon the exclusion of evidence are numerous. See e.g., Nunnally, supra; Knotts v. Hassell, 659 So.2d 886 (Miss. 1995); Gifford v. Four-County Electrical Power Association, 615 So. 2d 1166 (Miss. 1992); Wirtz v. Stewart, 586 So. 2d 775, 784 (Miss. 1991); Harris, supra; Hammond v. Grissom, 470 So. 2d 1049 (Miss. 1985); Arrow Food Distributors v. Love, 361 So. 2d 324 (Miss. 1978); Redhead v. Entergy Mississippi, Inc., 828 So. 2d 801 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); Bridges v. Kitchings, 820 So. 2d 42 (Miss. Ct. Ap. 2002); Kleyle v. Burril, 807 So. 2d 481 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). In each, the Court refused to consider on appeal, or reverse, a trial court's exclusion of testimony, where the party claiming error had failed to preserve the claimed error by making a proffer as to what the excluded testimony would have been.

In Knotts v. Hassell, 659 So.2d 886 (Miss. 1995), the Supreme Court held that it would not place the trial court in error when plaintiff failed to make an offer of proof which would have

allowed the trial court an opportunity reconsider its ruling excluding the witness. *Id.* at 891(citing *Wirtz v. Stewart*, 586 So. 2d 775, 784 (Miss. 1991)(exclusion of evidence will not be a basis for reversal in absence of proffer)(overruled on unrelated ground). In *Wirtz*, the Supreme Court noted that although the trial court erred in disallowing certain testimony, the issue was not preserved for appeal because the offended party failed to make an offer of proof as to the substance and nature of the testimony. *Id.* at 784. In *Hammond v. Grissom*, 470 So. 2d 1049 (Miss. 1985), the Court stated:

When a party seeks reversal because of excluded testimony, he must either place the witness on the stand, ask questions, and have the answers made of record, or else the witness must be presented and there must be a specific statement of what the answers or testimony of the witness would be.

Id. at 1052 (quoting Dazet v. Bass, 254 So. 2d 183 (Miss. 1971). In Kleyle v. Burril, 807 So. 2d 481 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), the Court of Appeals held that not only must some statement be dictated into the record as to what the excluded evidence would have been, but also "our rule is that in making a profert[sic] of testimony rejected by the trial court, counsel must cause the record to clearly reflect what he intended to prove by such testimony." Id. at 484 (quoting Martin v. Wadlington, 337 So. 2d 706, 708 (Miss. 1976); see also, Mason v. State, 440 So. 2d 318, 319 (Miss. 1983). "Without more than mere assertions, it must be presumed that the rulings of the trial court were correct." Shelton v. Kindred, 279 So. 2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1973).

Moreover, in his Brief, Bolden claims that Plaintiff testified at trial regarding the relationship between the questionable medical bills excluded by the trial court and the subject accident. However, Bolden has clearly failed to provide this Court with any basis for overturning the trial court's decision to disallow same. Conspicuously missing from the trial court's record is any testimony, live or by deposition, which supports Bolden's naked assertions as to what transpired at trial, and what was or was not proven by such testimony. As a result, Bolden's record on appeal is

ι,

not sufficient to allow this Court to reverse the trail court's decision.

It is clear that the Mississippi Supreme Court "has recognized many times that each case must be decided by the facts shown in the record and not by mere assertions in the brief." *Kleyle*, *supra* at 483 (citing *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318, 319 (Miss.1983)). Furthermore, "without more than mere assertions, it must be presumed that the rulings of the trial court were correct." *Id.*; *Shelton*, *supra* at 644 (emphasis added). Thus, without testimony at trial or by deposition in the record that Bolden sufficiently related the claimed injuries and medical treatment to the accident, so as to form the requisite causal connection between same, the trial court's decision must be presumed to be correct and Bolden's appeal must fail.

It is well-settled that preservation of an error for appeal is basic first-year law student hornbook law. In this case, Bolden failed to make a proffer for the record as to what the testimony of Plaintiff's treating physicians would have been, if same had been allowed to testify. Despite the trial court's significant and well-reasoned discussion of the exclusion of said witnesses, Plaintiff did not put the physicians on the stand and question them regarding their opinions or otherwise read into the record what their anticipated testimony would have been, so as to complain about said exclusion on appeal. Similarly, Bolden failed to include the trial transcript in the record on appeal such that a determination as to whether the causal connection had been established at trial. Based upon long standing and well established Mississippi law, Plaintiff did not preserve these claimed errors for appeal. Accordingly, Plaintiff's claims of error regarding the exclusion of his expert witnesses or treating physicians and medical bills are not properly before this Court. Said proclaimed errors should not be considered and the trial court should be affirmed on these issues for procedural reasons, if for no other.

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